New Monterey
Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey

Monterey, California




Acknowledgment

The activity which is the subject of this historic context has been financed in part with Federal funds
from the National Park Service, Department of the Interior, through the California Office of Historic
Preservation. However, the contents and opinions do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the
Department of the Interior or the California Office of Historic Preservation, nor does mention of trade
names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation by the Department of the
Interior or the California Office of Historic Preservation.

Regulations of the U.S. Department of the Interior strictly prohibit unlawful discrimination in
departmental federally-assisted programs on the basis of race, color, sex, age, disability, or national
origin. Any person who believes he or she has been discriminated against in any program, activity, or
facility operated by a recipient of Federal assistance should write to:

Director, Equal Opportunity Program
U.S. Department of the Interior
National Park Service

P.O. Box 37127

Washington, DC 20013-7127

Cover Image: Portion of c. 1910 panoramic view of New Monterey by photographer A. C. Heidrick (courtesy
Monterey Public Library, California History Room).



NEW MONTEREY HISTORIC CONTEXT STATEMENT AND RECONNAISSANCE SURVEY

1. INTRODUCTION .. tcetuterecenracsecansassssassecassassosassassssasssssssassssassnssssasssssssassssassassssassans 1
0 e o =Yot fl 2 F- T =4 g0 TV o o PSRRI 1
00 A AU o AV AN T PRt 1
ST o o Yot dl V{114 o oo Fo] [} .Y SRR 2
1.4 Previous SUIVEY EffOrtS.... ..ttt et e e e e e e tte e e e et ae e e eate e e e ebteaeeenbaeaeennteas 3
2. HISTORIC RESOURCE EVALUATION CRITERIA...ccteetecenrecrecesocassassosassassssessossssassasassassasas 5
2.1 National Register of HiStOriC PlaCeS.......uuuiiiiiiiciiieeie ettt e et e e e e s e rae e e e e e e e nenaees 5
2.2 California Register of HiStorical RESOUICES..........uuiiiieiiecciiiiee ettt et e e e e e e enrare e e e e e e nnrees 6
2.3 Monterey Preservation and Planning.........c.ooiiiieiei ettt e et e e e 7
2.4 Designated Historic Resources within the SUrVeY Area ........ccccveieeciiiieeee e 8
3. CONTEXTS, THEMES AND PROPERTY TYPES «.cueuterececeerereceneerececaceesecacassesesacassesecassssanens 9
4. NATIVE AMERICAN, SPANISH AND MEXICAN PERIODS (PRE-1846) ......ccevuverrennncreennennes 13
5. EARLY AMERICAN IMIONTEREY (1846-1885).....ccccuueereenncrrenncreennenrennnereenneeeennseseennes 16
6. INITIAL DEVELOPMENT OF NEW MONTEREY (1886-1901) ....cceuuuiriermnnncerneennnncernennnnnns 23
7. EARLY TWENTIETH-CENTURY EXPANSION OF NEW MONTEREY (1902-1923).................. 33
8. MATURATION OF NEW MONTEREY (1924-1945) ....ccuctieuirenncrenncrenncrennceencerencernnesenne 54
9. POSTWAR GROWTH OF NEW MONTEREY (1946-1962) .....cceuereererrnncrenncrenceenernneeenne 69
10. RECENT HISTORY OF NEW MONTEREY (POST-1962) ...cccutreenrerrennerrennneneenneseennneneennes 83
11. SURVEY RESULTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS «c.veeeereerecenreceecassocsssassocassassssassnssssassassnse 87
11.2 SUMMArY Of SUIVEY RESUIES .....veiiiiiiee ettt e e e ebte e e e sba e e e e satae e e srreeeeeaes 87
11.2 Recommendations fOr FUTUIE WOTK.........uuuuuuururireiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeerereeeeeeeeeeeeeererererreeresrereresssesesessseeeees 88
12, BIBLIOGRAPHY ..c.tuteterecenreceecessecessessscessossssassossssassssasssssssessssssssssssassassssassasassnsas 91
APPENDICES ..uceeeirerececesraracecnssesecassssssscassssssscassssssssassssssssassssssssassssssnsnssssasnses AFTER 94
A. Survey Summary Tables

B. Maps of the Survey Area
C. California Historical Resource Status Codes
D. DPR523A (Primary Record) Forms






New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey August 2013
City of Monterey Architectural Resources Group

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 PROJECT BACKGROUND

The City of Monterey received a grant from the State Office of Historic Preservation (OHP) for the
preparation of the New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey. The City has
contracted with Architectural Resources Group — a consultant meeting the Secretary of the Interior’s
Professional Qualifications for architectural historian as set forth in 36 CFR part 61, Appendix A — to
develop a Historic Context Statement for, and conduct a reconnaissance level survey of, the New
Monterey survey area.

The 244-acre New Monterey survey area is comprised of the New Monterey Residential Neighborhood
and the New Monterey Business District, which together contain 1,752 properties. (See Figure 1-1.)
Though known as “New Monterey,” the area has been part of the City of Monterey since its 1889
incorporation, and has seen steady development since that time. Adjacent to the survey area is the City
of Pacific Grove to the west and south, the Cannery Row Conservation District to the north, and the
Defense Language Institute Foreign Language Center (DLIFLC) to the east. The City is in the process of
developing a Mixed-Use Specific Plan for the commercial portion of the New Monterey survey area to
encourage economic revitalization and transit-oriented development. Because the specific plan is
expected to encourage new infill development and redevelopment of existing sites, the Historic Context
Statement and Reconnaissance Survey will serve as vital tools for targeting particular areas as catalyst
project sites for the revitalization of the mixed-use area.

The New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey builds upon and expands the
draft Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey that was completed for the New Monterey
Residential Neighborhood in 2009. As part of the 2009 survey, State of California DPR 523A (Primary
Record) forms were completed for approximately 300 properties within the New Monterey Residential
Neighborhood. The City concluded that the draft Context Statement required significant further
development before it could serve as an adequate basis for the survey. In particular, both the Historic
Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey needed to be broadened to address the expanded
survey area, which now includes the New Monterey Business District.

The New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey was prepared by
Preservation Planner Matthew Davis of Architectural Resources Group, Inc. (ARG). The field survey was
conducted by ARG Architectural Historian Allison Lyons. Considerable assistance was provided by
Christine Hopper, Senior Associate Planner with the City of Monterey, and Dennis Copeland, Museum,
Cultural Arts and Archives Manager for the Monterey Public Library. Matthew, Allison and Christine
meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Professional Qualifications Standards in Architectural History. The
project was coordinated by Christine Hopper and Elizabeth Caraker, Principal Planner with the City of
Monterey, with additional assistance from Marie Nelson of the California Office of Historic Preservation.

1.2 STUDY AREA

The survey area for the New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey was
selected by the Monterey Planning Office and largely corresponds to the boundaries used for the
preliminary Reconnaissance Survey of the area that was completed in 2009, with the addition of
properties at the east end of the survey area along Lighthouse Avenue. The survey area is bound by Line
Street on the north, Devisadero Street on the west, and Private Bolio Road and the DLIFLC boundary on
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the south. The western boundary of the study area generally runs mid-block between Foam and Wave
Streets.

Figure 1-1. 2012 New Monterey Reconnaissance Survey Area.

1.3 PROJECT METHODOLOGY

The New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey has been completed in
accordance with relevant federal, state and local guidelines for registering historic properties and
developing historic contexts, including:

e National Park Service: National Register Bulletin No. 15 How to Apply the National Register
Criteria for Evaluation

e National Register Bulletin No. 16A How to Complete the National Register Registration Form

o National Register Bulletin No. 16B How to Complete the National Register Multiple Property
Documentation Form

e National Register Bulletin No. 24 Guidelines for Local Surveys: A Basis for Preservation Planning

e State of California, Office of Historic Preservation Instructions for Recording Historical Resources

e State of California, Office of Historic Preservation Writing Historic Contexts

e State of California, Office of Historic Preservation, Preferred Format for Historic Context
Statements
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Historic Context Statement

The New Monterey Historic Context Statement was compiled based on research conducted at the City of
Monterey’s Planning Office, the California History Room of the Monterey Public Library, the San
Francisco Public Library, and the Defense Language Institute Foreign Language Center Archive.
Consulted primary sources include official reports and records, newspaper accounts, U.S. Census
records, building construction records, personal narratives, historic maps (including Sanborn Company
Fire Insurance maps), and historic photographs, including street and aerial views. The context statement
also incorporates and synthesizes research (primarily related to the occupations of early-twentieth-
century residents of the area) compiled by Sharon Dwight of the New Monterey Neighborhood
Association. The context statement also draws on a multitude of secondary sources, including several
single-property evaluations on file with the City of Monterey, as well as several books on the history of
Monterey, Cannery Row and the Presidio of Monterey. These secondary sources provided useful
information regarding historic trends and property types within the study area.

Reconnaissance Survey

State of California DPR 523A (Primary Record) forms were completed for approximately 300 properties
as part of the Reconnaissance Survey that was conducted in 2009 for the New Monterey Residential
Neighborhood. This group of 300 was intended to include all age-eligible properties within the New
Monterey Residential Neighborhood that appeared to retain good integrity. To supplement the 2009
survey, ARG conferred with the City to identify 50 additional properties within the survey area that
warranted documentation on DPR 523A forms. Not surprisingly, most of these additional 50 are located
in the New Monterey Business District, which was not included in the 2009 survey.

To complete the 50-property reconnaissance survey, an ARG field surveyor visited and photographed
each property. While on site, ARG surveyors noted the physical characteristics of each structure,
including any evident alterations. This data was then used to create a State of California DPR 523A
(Primary Record) form for each property. The field data was evaluated in conjunction with the historic
context statement to assess the historic significance of properties within the survey area and assign
each property a California Historical Resource Status Code (CHRSC). In addition, ARG identified
properties within the survey area that, due to their historic importance, appear to merit individual
documentation on State of California DPR 523B (Building, Structure, and Object Record) forms.

1.4 PREVIOUS SURVEY EFFORTS

In addition to the draft Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey that was completed for the New
Monterey Residential Neighborhood in 2009, three previous survey efforts are relevant to the current
effort.

Comprehensive Survey of Architectural Resources in the City of Monterey (1977)

The 1977 citywide survey completed by Elizabeth Nomellini and Jane Wileman was the first
comprehensive identification of the City of Monterey’s historic resources. Three hundred and seventy
(370) properties were intensively surveyed and recorded on DPR historic resources inventory forms. The
properties were also evaluated for eligibility for designation as local, state, and national historic
resources. The survey was not limited to buildings over 50 years old, but also included more recent
structures in order to portray as complete a picture as possible of the urban development of Monterey.

Cannery Row Cultural Resources Survey (2001)
Architectural Resources Group completed the Cannery Row Cultural Resources Survey for the City of
Monterey in 2001. This survey identified and described multiple historic contexts relevant to the
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Cannery Row survey area, which directly abuts the New Monterey survey area. As part of the survey
process, properties within the survey area were evaluated to determine their eligibility both as potential
individual historic resources and as contributors to four potential districts. Two of the proposed districts
—the North Cannery Row Historic District and the Literary Core Historic District — were deemed National
Register-eligible, while the other two — the South Cannery Row Historic District and the Cannery Row
Industrial and Residential Historic District — were deemed California Register-eligible.

The City of Monterey did not formally adopt the historic districts that were proposed in the 2001
Cannery Row Cultural Resources Survey. Nor did the City formally extend H-1 or H-2 overlay zoning to all
of the properties that were identified in the survey as H-1 or H-2 eligible (a few select properties were
designated). Instead, the City created the Cannery Row Conservation District, which includes most of the
2001 survey area and is the only Conservation District in the city. In 2004, the City adopted the City of
Monterey Design Program, which summarizes historical information and specifies design guidelines and
project review processes for the Cannery Row Conservation District. The design guidelines are divided
into three sections: the rehabilitation of historic buildings, new construction and public infrastructure.
The Design Program includes a summary of key design features, both district-wide and by building type,
and recognizes four character areas within the Cannery Row Conservation District: Cannery Row — Bay
Side, Cannery Row — Inland Side, Monterey Bay Recreation Trail, and Wave and Cross Streets.

NHLD and Downtown Area Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey (2012)

In 2012, Architectural Resources Group completed the National Historic Landmark District and
Downtown Area Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey for the City of Monterey. The
downtown survey area included the two portions of the discontinuous Monterey Old Town National
Historic Landmark District (NHLD) as well as the surrounding blocks of downtown Monterey. The context
statement and survey clarified and strengthened the historical documentation supporting the Monterey
Old Town NHLD, while also providing a framework within which potential historical resources in the
larger downtown area could be identified and assessed. Several portions of the context statement
developed for Downtown Monterey informed and were incorporated into the New Monterey Historic
Context Statement.
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2. HisToRrIC RESOURCE EVALUATION CRITERIA

2.1 NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

The National Register of Historic Places is the Nation’s master inventory of known historic resources and
includes listings of buildings, structures, sites, objects and districts that possess historic, architectural,
engineering, archaeological or cultural significance at the national, state or local level. As described in
the National Register Bulletin How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, a property must
have both historical significance and integrity to be eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic
Places.

To be significant, a property must be “associated with an important historic context.”* The National
Register identifies four possible context types, of which at least one must be applicable to the property
at the national, state, or local level. As listed under Section 8, “Statement of Significance,” of the
National Register of Historic Places Registration Form, these are:

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history.

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important to prehistory or history.?

Second, for a property to qualify under the National Register’s Criteria for Evaluation, it must also retain
“historic integrity of those features necessary to convey its significance.”® While a property’s significance
relates to its role within a specific historic context, its integrity refers to “a property’s physical features
and how they relate to its significance.”* To determine if a property retains the physical characteristics
corresponding to its historic context, the National Register has identified seven aspects of integrity:

1. Location is the place where the historic property was constructed or the place where the
historic event occurred.

2. Setting is the physical environment of a historic property.

3. Design is the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, structure, and style of a
property.

4. Materials are the physical elements that were combined or deposited during a particular period
of time and in a particular pattern or configuration to form a historic property.

! National Park Service, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, 3.
? National Park Service, How to Complete the National Register Registration Form, 75
* National Park Service, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, 3.
4.

Ibid., 44.



New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey August 2013
City of Monterey Architectural Resources Group

5. Workmanship is the physical evidence of the crafts of a particular culture or people during any
given period in history or prehistory.

6. Feelingis a property’s expression of the aesthetic or historic sense of a particular period of time.

7. Association is the direct link between an important historic event or person and a historic
property.

Since integrity is based on a property’s significance within a specific historic context, an evaluation of a
property’s integrity can only occur after historic significance has been established.”

2.2 CALIFORNIA REGISTER OF HISTORICAL RESOURCES

The California Register of Historical Resources is the authoritative guide to the State’s significant
historical and archeological resources. It serves to identify, evaluate, register and protect California’s
historical resources. The California Register program encourages public recognition and protection of
resources of architectural, historical, archeological and cultural significance, identifies historical
resources for state and local planning purposes, determines eligibility for historic preservation grant
funding and affords certain protections under the California Environmental Quality Act. All resources
listed on or formally determined eligible for the National Register are eligible for the California Register.
In addition, properties designated under municipal or county ordinances are also eligible for listing in
the California Register.

The California Register criteria are modeled on the National Register criteria discussed above. An
historical resource must be significant at the local, state, or national level under one or more of the
following criteria:

1. Itis associated with events or patterns of events that have made a significant contribution to
the broad patterns of local or regional history, or the cultural heritage of California or the United
States.

2. ltis associated with the lives of persons important to local, California, or national history.

3. It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction,
or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values.

4. It hasyielded, or has the potential to yield, information important to the prehistory or history of
the local area, state or the nation.

The California Historic Resource Status Codes (CHRSCs) are a series of ratings created by the California
Office of Historic Preservation (SHPO) to quickly and easily identify the historic status of resources listed
in the state’s historic properties database. These codes were revised in August 2003 to better reflect the
many historic status options available to evaluators. The following are the seven major status code
headings:

1. Properties listed in the National Register or the California Register.
2. Properties determined eligible for listing in the National Register or the California Register.

> bid., 44-45.
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3. Appears eligible for National Register or California Register through Survey Evaluation.
4. Appears eligible for National Register or California Register through other evaluation.
5. Properties recognized as historically significant by local government.
6. Not eligible for listing or designation.
7. Not evaluated for National Register or California Register or needs revaluation.

2.3 MONTEREY PRESERVATION AND PLANNING

General Plan

The preservation of historic structures and districts in the City of Monterey is accomplished through its
planning documents and municipal code. The 2005 City of Monterey General Plan, which represents the
City’s official land use policy, includes a Historic Preservation Element with a primary goal of
“[p]reserv[ing] historic and cultural resources in Monterey, including buildings, sites, landscapes,
artifacts, and memories.” The Historic Preservation Element outlines a number of specific programs for
achieving the goal of historic preservation, including designating historic structures, sites and districts;
promoting the retention of historic resources through a variety of incentives; and the continued
maintenance of a Historic Master Plan.

The preservation policies set forth in the General Plan are implemented through the City’s Historic
Preservation Ordinance. A nine-member Historic Preservation Commission acts on all matters pertaining
to promotion, restoration, and protection of City of Monterey historic resources in accord with City
ordinances or instruction from the City Council.

Historic Master Plan

The City’s Historic Master Plan, adopted in 2000, establishes a framework for preserving and
interpreting historic, archaeological and cultural resources in Monterey. The Plan has two main goals: 1)
Integration of governments and non-profit historic preservation and interpretation efforts; and 2)
Protection of historic resources (landscapes, sites, buildings, artifacts and memories). Objectives include:
the coordination of efforts to make Historic Monterey a destination; making the City’s history more
comprehensible for its citizens; establishing a proactive program to preserve areas and resources of
historic significance; conduct, maintain and update historic surveys; preserve historic landscapes; and
develop and encourage interpretive programs and collection of artifacts and memories.

City of Monterey Historic Preservation Ordinance

The City of Monterey’s Historic Preservation Ordinance implements the General Plan Historic
Preservation Element policies. The Ordinance outlines the process by which historic resources are
identified and protected, thresholds for alteration and demolition, and property owner incentives for
the protection of historic resources within the City. The Ordinance also requires that historic resource
surveys, including the present Downtown Monterey survey, be reviewed every five years and updated
as appropriate.

H-1 Landmark Overlay Zoning

H-1 zoning is intended to identify and protect the most important historic resources in the City,
generally including properties with statewide, national or international historic resources. The City
recognizes its responsibility for preserving these resources for a national and international public, and
the H-1 zone may be established without owner consent in order to fulfill that responsibility. The H-1
zone has a strong series of incentives to support and encourage preservation of historic resources. H-1
Landmark zoning may be applied only to properties that meet the National Register of Historic Places
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criteria as defined in National Register Bulletin 15, and to properties that are the first, last, only, rare, or
most significant resources of its type in the region.

H-2 City Historic Resource Overlay Zoning

H-2 zoning is intended to identify and protect historic resources in the City that would be recognized as
resources with local historic importance and their historic importance would not generally be
recognized outside the immediate area of the Monterey Peninsula. The City encourages the
preservation of these resources with a strong set of incentives; however, the decision to rezone and
ultimately to preserve them is left to the property owner. H-2 City Resource zoning may only be applied
to properties which meet National or California Register criteria.

H-D Historic District Overlay Zoning

H-D zoning is intended to identify and protect geographical areas with a concentration of historic
resources, where preservation of the individual historic resources and their historic setting is important
to understanding Monterey’s history. H-D zoning may be applied to a geographical area which meets
National or California Register criteria for districts.

2.4 DESIGNATED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SURVEY AREA

Based on City of Monterey records and a review of the Historic Property Data File for the City of
Monterey available through the California Historical Resources Information System (CHRIS), the New
Monterey survey area includes seven properties that are designated historical resources. As summarized
in the table below, two properties are H-1 City of Monterey Landmarks, five properties are H-2 City of
Monterey Historic Resources, three properties are listed on the California Register of Historical
Resources, and one property is listed on the National Register of Historic Places.

Table 2-1.Designated Properties Within the Survey Area

On California On National
Address Local Register? Register? CHRSC*
570 Archer Street H-1 X X 1S
(Lou Ellen Parmelee House, 1896)
320 Hawthorne Street H-2
(Harry A. Greene Carriage House, 1892)
361 Lighthouse Avenue H-1 3S
(Harry A. Greene House, 1887)
543 Lighthouse Avenue H-2 X 2S2
(Monterey Peninsula Hospital, 1904)
801 Lighthouse Avenue H-2
(Mariposa Hall, 1891)
798 Pine Street H-2 X 2S2
(James Chappell House, 1938)
403 Prescott Avenue H-2
(Orville P. Colburn House, 1910)

*See Appendix C for an explanatory list of California Historical Resource Status Codes.

There are no historic districts within or intersecting the study area that have been listed on the National
Register of Historic Places or the California Register of Historical Resources or that have been designated
locally. Chapter 11 below includes discussion of additional properties within the survey area that, in
ARG’s professional opinion, merit local, state, and/or national designation.
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3. CONTEXTS, THEMES AND PROPERTY TYPES

The history of New Monterey consists of several periods of development that encompass interrelated
events, settlement patterns, important persons, and cultural, political and socioeconomic changes.
Along with these common themes, each period of development is associated with specific property
types that originated within or characterize the period.

The New Monterey Historic Context Statement has been divided into the following seven development
periods:

Native American, Spanish and Mexican Periods (Pre-1846)

Early American Monterey (1846-1885)

Initial Development of New Monterey (1886-1901)

Early Twentieth-Century Expansion of New Monterey (1902-1923)
e Maturation of New Monterey (1924-1945)

e Postwar Growth of New Monterey (1946-1962)

e Recent History of New Monterey (Post-1962)

Format of Contexts

The discussion of each period within the New Monterey Historic Context Statement consists of a
historical background section followed by a summary of significant themes and an analysis of associated
property types.

Historical Background

The historical background statement for each development period identifies and concisely describes
events, persons and architectural styles from each period that are significant to the growth and
evolution of New Monterey’s built environment. The historical background statements are intended to
track evolving land use patterns and are generally organized around three central themes:

e Residential Settlement Patterns
- How did residential settlement patterns in New Monterey evolve during this period?
- Where was the residential development concentrated, and what architectural forms did it
assume?

e Transportation and Infrastructure
- How did transportation to and through New Monterey change during this period?
- How did those changes influence the built environment?
- Did other significant infrastructural improvements from this period influence the built
environment?

e Commerce, Industry and Employment
- What types of businesses were prominent within the survey area at this time? Where were
they located and what architectural forms did they assume?
- What were common occupations of New Monterey residents at this time?
- What employers outside of the survey area, such as the Presidio of Monterey and the
canneries, were important to the survey area at this time?



New Monterey Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey August 2013
City of Monterey Architectural Resources Group

Please note that the historical background statements included in this context statement generally
reflect the extent of archival information available at the time of the document’s completion. Sections
of this context statement may be expanded in the future as additional information becomes available or
as elaboration of specific aspects of the historical context is needed.

Summary of Significant Themes

For periods from which resources remain extant, the discussion of historical background is accompanied
by a summary statement of significant historic themes associated with the period. This statement is
intended to identify the broad themes associated with the growth and evolution of New Monterey’s
built environment that imbue properties within the survey area with historical significance.

Associated Property Types

The analysis of associated property types for each context includes discussion of the types of properties
in the survey area associated with the events, persons and themes identified in the historical
background statement. The analysis includes architectural descriptions and lists of character-defining
features, along with templates for evaluating historic significance and integrity. Emphasis throughout is
on those associated properties that remain extant.

Overview of New Monterey Survey Area

The New Monterey survey area is located in the northwestern corner of Monterey, immediately inland
from Cannery Row. New Monterey and Cannery Row are separated from the rest of the city by the
Presidio of Monterey. Development in the New Monterey survey area is predominantly residential,
primarily single family homes. With a handful of exceptions, commercial development in the area is
limited to the Lighthouse Avenue and Foam Street corridors. The survey area slopes consistently
northeasterly, towards Monterey Bay. More than half of the survey area is over 200 feet above sea
level, and the southwest corner of the survey area is over 400 feet above sea level.

This portion of the city on the other side of the Presidio hill from downtown has been known as “New
Monterey” since it was subdivided in the 1880s, if not before. The vast majority of the New Monterey
survey area is comprised of three large subdivisions dating from the late nineteenth century: the
northern and southern halves of Walter Colton Little’s Survey of New Monterey (1886), and Wither’s
Addition to Monterey (1890).

The subsequent addition of the Linda Vista Tract in 1903 and the Intermedia Tract in 1904 essentially
established the current boundaries of New Monterey. The lone exception is Jones’ Subdivision, a 20-
parcel subdivision next to the Presidio that dates from 1958. While New Monterey may have been
largely subdivided by 1890, actual settlement occurred gradually over the subsequent several decades,
as evidenced by the second map below, which groups parcels in the survey area by date of construction.

10
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Figure 3-1. The New Monterey survey area is composed of six subdivisions, five of which date from the late nineteenth or early twentieth centuries.

11
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Figure 3-2. The New Monterey survey area was settled gradually over time, with development generally expanding westerly up the hill over the course of the
first half of the twentieth century. (This figure is reproduced below in Appendix B.)

12
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4. NATIVE AMERICAN, SPANISH AND MEXICAN PERIODS (PRE-1846)

4.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Note: This chapter summarizes the history of the New Monterey survey area prior to assumption of
American control of California in 1846. For additional information on the Native American, Spanish and
Mexican eras of Monterey history, please see the recently completed National Historic Landmark District
and Downtown Area Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey.

The Monterey Area’s First Inhabitants

The Monterey area was first settled by the Rumsen people of the Ohlone-Costanoan language family.
The Ohlone consisted of eight to twelve distinct language groups and are believed to have migrated to
the San Francisco and Monterey Bay areas from the San Joaquin and Sacramento River valleys sometime
between 500 B.C. and 500 A.D. By the time of the Spanish arrival in 1770, the Ohlone extended from the
Carquinez Strait south to Point Sur and consisted of approximately 40 to 50 independent tribes varying
in size from 50 to 500 people. The Ohlone built stable, semi-permanent villages as well as smaller camps
for seasonal food collection. The Ohlone moved short distances with the seasons, living off of the area’s
plentiful plant and wildlife, including acorns, buckeyes, fish, shellfish, birds, and game.®

At the time of Spanish contact, approximately 800 Rumsen lived along the Monterey Peninsula and
lower portions of the Carmel and Salinas Rivers. The Monterey area was home to approximately five
semi-permanent Rumsen villages, each well outside the New Monterey survey area. Archeological
research indicates that, though the Rumsen did not build any permanent villages along the shoreline of
the Monterey Peninsula, the coast was densely lined with a band of fishing-based seasonal camps.’

Spanish Monterey (1770-1821)

Long after exploratory ventures by the Spanish in 1542 and 1602 first brought Europeans to Monterey
Bay, the Spanish government decided to occupy the Port of Monterey and, more generally, colonize Alta
California. Don Gaspar de Portola, Governor of Baja California, and Padre Junipero Serra, Presidente of
the Missions, led the expedition, founding the Presidio of Monterey and Mission San Carlos Borromeo in
1770. Despite the 1771 relocation of the mission to Carmel, Monterey was named the capital of Baja
and Alta Californiain 1776. At this time, the New Monterey survey area was part of the Carmel Mission’s
sizable landholdings.®

In the early 1770s, all of the population of Monterey lived within the stockade of the Spanish presidio.
Despite numerous expansions made to the compound, living conditions in the presidio remained
cramped. By the end of the eighteenth century, a few families had built homes outside the presidio
walls, but downtown Monterey had not yet developed.’

In 1792, the Spanish built El Castillo, a rudimentary fort atop the hill overlooking the anchorage of
Monterey Bay. This fort, which initially consisted of eleven guns behind a crude parapet of logs, was

6 Abrahamson, 10; Conway, 16-17; Levy, 485; Margolin, 1, 13, 15, 52.

’ Milliken, v, 52-58. Breschini and Haversat.

8 Conway, 32-35, 48; Fink, 29; Johnston, 19; Woodbridge, 15. This presidio, near El Estero, should not be confused
with today’s Presidio of Monterey.

? Conway, 47; Kimbro, 12; Williams, 128, 136, 140.
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intermittently maintained over the ensuing decades and served as the principal fort in Monterey for
both the Spanish and the Mexicans.°

Mexican Monterey (1821-1846)

Mexico gained its independence from Spain in 1821, with Alta California one of its territories. Over the
next 25 years, Monterey served as the political, social and economic capital of Mexican California.
Reduced foreign trade restrictions under Mexican rule fostered an emerging multinational economy that
revolved around the trade of cattle hides, tallow and manufactured goods. Monterey was designated
California’s official port of entry in 1831, making it the leading marketplace for all of California and
attracting a new generation of settlers. In particular, several British and American merchants chose to
settle in Monterey, many marrying into prominent local families.™

Along with the emergence of Monterey’s trade economy, this period was marked by the profound
societal transformations brought on by the secularization of the mission lands. By the 1820s, California’s
missions, with their vast land holdings and mobilized labor forces, had become the economic centers of
entire provinces. Responding to growing frustration with this state of affairs, the Mexican government
decreed in 1834 that that control of mission lands be transferred from the Church to civil administrators.
Most of the missions’ vast acreage and extensive livestock were soon transferred to a few powerful
“Californios,” descendents of California’s Spanish settlers. In Monterey, most recipients of land grants
were friends of Juan Bautista Alvarado, who had become governor of California in 1836. In all, Alvarado
bestowed 28 land grants, together encompassing over a quarter of a million acres of land. Following
secularization, the rancho, carved from pasture lands and fields once used by the herds and flocks of the
mission, became the dominant social and economic institution of the new regime.12

By the late 1830s, the Monterey Peninsula was composed of three large parcels of land: the Rancho
Punto de los Pinos, the Rancho El Pescadero, and the Pueblo Lands of Monterey. Mexican Governor Jose
Figueroa granted Rancho Punto de los Pinos to Presidio soldier Jose Maria Armenta in 1833. The inland
boundary of this 2,667-acre rancho, which included all of present-day Pacific Grove as well as lands to
the west and south, ran northeast to southwest across the Peninsula, in line with today’s David Avenue.
Mexican Governor Nicolds Gutiérrez granted the adjacent Rancho El Pescadero to Monterey resident
Fabian Barretto in 1836. This 4,426-acre ranch included today’s Pebble Beach and a portion of Del
Monte Forest. Both Rancho Punto de los Pinos and Rancho El Pescadero were used for cattle and sheep
grazing, with most labor done by Native Americans.

The New Monterey survey area itself falls within the former Pueblo Lands of Monterey, approximately
30,000 acres that had been granted to the town by the Spanish government following its designation as
an official pueblo in December 1826. These lands were recognized by the U.S. government in 1848.%

4.2 ASSOCIATED PROPERTY TYPES
The New Monterey survey area does not include any properties associated with the Native American,
Spanish or Mexican periods of Monterey history. It appears that the right-of-way that was to become

10 Horne, 17.
1 Abrahamson, 21; Conway, 50-51.
12 Abrahamson, 23; Fink, 63-64, 77-78; Johnston, 37.
* page & Turnbull, 34-35; Shumway, 58. The rancho boundaries are shown in Figure 5-2.
14
Johnston 37; Shumway, 56.
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Lighthouse Avenue was first established in the 1830s or 1840s, as part of the coastal road that led from
the pueblo of Monterey to Point Pinos.

A full analysis of potential archeological resources within the New Monterey survey area is beyond the
scope of this survey and context statement, the purpose of which is to provide background information
pertinent to the identification of historically significant aspects of the built environment. The City of
Monterey does not currently have any documentation of any structures or buildings within the survey
area that are associated with the pre-contact Native American occupation of the Monterey area.
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5. EARLY AMERICAN PERIOD (1846-1885)

5.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Following establishment of American control of the area, Monterey hosted the California Constitutional
Convention in 1849. Following the end of the convention and California’s assumption of American
statehood, many Monterey residents went to San Francisco or the Sierra foothills to pursue their gold-
related fortunes. Others followed the state government to San José. No longer California’s commercial
or political center, Monterey remained small throughout the remainder of the nineteenth century, while
the population of California boomed. During this period, the New Monterey survey area was broken into
a handful of large tracts and initial survey work was begun. Other events from this period that proved
important to the future development of New Monterey include the establishment of a rail line
extending to the Monterey area, as well as the initial stirrings of the local fishing industry.

Residential Settlement Patterns

During California’s brief period of American military rule, each community was governed by an official of
combined judicial, executive and legislative authority, the alcalde. Monterey’s alcalde was Walter
Colton, who had arrived in Monterey in July 1846 as chaplain of the frigate U.S.S. Congress. In 1847,
Colton granted Milton Little two large adjacent tracts of land drawn from the former Pueblo Lands of
Monterey. The tracts were northwest of downtown, on the other side of the hill atop which sat Fort
Mervine. Milton Little (1813-1879) was born in Courtland County, New York in 1813, and arrived in
Monterey in 1844, where he initially worked in the mercantile business as a partner of Thomas Larkin.
Little served as second alcalde under Walter Colton, was a two-term member of the Monterey County
Board of Supervisors, and a two-term County Treasurer.”

In 1848, Milton Little expanded his property through acquisition of another adjacent parcel from Jacob
Rink Snyder. This third parcel would later become the eastern half of the Withers Tract. Snyder, a
delegate to the California Constitutional Convention, conducted in 1847 the first survey that included
New Monterey. The survey map, which was identified as “Part of the Municipality Lands of Monterey,”
included the areas that were to become New Monterey, Pacific Grove, Del Monte Forest and Pebble
Beach. Little purchased the western half of what would become the Withers Tract in 1868 from Julius
Martin, who had owned the land since Walter Colton deeded it to him in late 1847.%

By 1869, Little was in convalescent state and had retired to the family home at 299 Lighthouse Avenue
(no longer extant) in New Monterey. The Little family did not make an effort to subdivide their
landholdings until 1877, when they hired County Surveyor Francis Logan Ripley to survey the parcels and
subdivide the land in order to sell lots to individual purchasers as residential property. While no map of
the 1877 survey appears to be extant, a contemporary description of the survey indicates that the
survey divided New Monterey into five numbered streets running southwest-northeast, and two named
streets — Broadway and Bay — running southeast-northwest, along the coast.’” Unfortunately, the
description makes no reference to the relationship of the proposed street grid to the existing road that
ran along the coast between Monterey and Point Pinos (see Figure 5-1). While future surveys of the area
largely dispensed with Ripley’s specific street and lot configuration, the 1877 survey is notable as the

' Delkin, 122-123; Howard 1, 7.

'® Howard, 1, 226, 227. This 1847 map, a copy of which was formerly displayed in the City of Monterey’s
Engineering Office, no longer appears to be available.

Y Howard 1, 7, 153.
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first to lay out the area according to an orthogonal grid that was oriented, not to the cardinal directions,
but to the adjacent coastline.

Figure 5-1. 1852 U.S. Coast Guard Survey Map of Monterey Harbor and Vicinity (David Rumsey Map Collection).
Note the location of Fort Mervine (labeled “Fort”) up the hill from the triangular El Castillo (labeled “Ruins of Mex.
Battery”). New Monterey is located between Fort Mervine and Point Almeja, also known as Mussel Point (this point
is now known as China Point.) Point Aulon is now known as Lovers Point. A coastal road had already been
established by this time connecting Monterey to Point Pinos. (Note the handful of buildings along the road just
north of the fort.) The route of this road through New Monterey generally corresponds to today’s Lighthouse
Avenue.
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Upon Milton Little’s death in 1879, much of Little’s landholdings was lost through protracted legal
disputes, with the remainder reverting to Mary Little, Milton’s widow. Following a lawsuit, the Littles
were forced in 1879 to auction the parcels they had acquired from Snyder and Martin. These parcels
were acquired by James Withers, who deeded the parcels to his son Milton Withers the following year.
Other parcels were acquired by attorney Delphin Michael Delmas in return for legal services he provided
the Little family in their land title disputes with James Withers and David Jacks. Jacks acquired title to
nearly all 30,000 acres of the former Pueblo Lands of Monterey in 1859, and acquired Rancho El
Pescadero in 1868."

Jacks also acquired the Punto de los Pinos rancho at this time. In 1875, 100 acres of Jacks’ land was
subdivided for use by the Pacific Grove Retreat Association as a Christian resort. The first camp meeting
was held in August 1875, and Pacific Grove was soon home to numerous tents and simple, wood-frame
buildings. Initial development was clustered around the intersection of Central and Grand Avenues,
approximately three-quarters of a mile from the current Pacific Grove/New Monterey border. When
Jacks sold the vast majority of the Punto de los Pinos rancho to the Pacific Improvement Company in
1880, the Company supported the Retreat Association’s continued development of Pacific Grove as a
Christian resort."

Beyond the Little family home along Lighthouse Avenue, it remains unclear how many residences or
other buildings existed in the New Monterey survey area during this period. Nineteenth-century
photographs of the area are very rare, and the earliest city directories and Sanborn Maps that include
New Monterey date from the early twentieth century. Given the wholesale subdivision of New
Monterey in the 1880s and 1890s, however, it appears that very little of the area was developed prior to
1886.

Transportation and Infrastructure

Early Coast Road

The earliest road connecting New Monterey to central Monterey appears to be the coastal road that
appears on the 1852 U.S. Coast Guard map of the Monterey harbor and vicinity (see Figure 5-1). This
road extended from Monterey’s Custom House northwesterly to Point Pinos, where it turned south to
continue following the coastline. This road likely dated from the establishment of the Point de los Pinos
Rancho in the 1830s. (Note the building labeled “Rancho” in the upper left corner of Figure 5-1.) The
importance of the road was reinforced, and its future name presaged, when the U.S. government
constructed a lighthouse at Point Pinos in 1854.

As of 1880, this rough dirt road continued to be the only link between Monterey and the growing town
of Pacific Grove. As movement between the two towns increased, stages and private conveyances
carried people “over this dusty road, filled with ruts and bumps.”?® Indeed, the road was sufficiently
crude that most supplies were brought to the Point Pinos Lighthouse by boat, until road improvements
in 1874 enabled overland transit.”*

'8 Chiang, 19; Conway, 69; Howard, 7, 13, 227; Shumway, 58; Walton, 120-121, 132-133. See the National Historic
Landmark District and Downtown Area Historic Context Statement and Reconnaissance Survey, completed in 2012
for the City of Monterey, for more information on Jacks.

19 Page & Turnbull, 48, 58.

? Hanson (1990), 6.

*! page & Turnbull, 54.
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Monterey and Salinas Valley Railroad

In order to combat the Southern Pacific’s control over the shipment of grain from the Salinas

Valley, Carlisle S. Abbott of Salinas, with the support of David Jacks in Monterey, led a movement in
1874 to create California’s first narrow gauge rail, the Monterey and Salinas Valley Railroad. The
Monterey and Salinas Valley Railroad was chartered in February of 1874 with 72 stockholders and a
capital stock of community subscribers totaling $300,000. Construction of the nineteen-mile section
linking the port of Monterey to Salinas began in April and was completed in October. In Monterey, the
rail terminated at a station constructed east of downtown. The hope and ambition was to make
Monterey a deep water port for the cheap and self-controlled shipment of the grain produced in the
valley to other parts of California. The extension of the narrow-gauge railway to Salinas in 1874 allowed
ranchers to ship wheat to Monterey, where it was then shipped by steamer.?

Plagued with financial troubles from the beginning, due in no small part to numerous Salinas River
floods and washed out bridges, the Monterey and Salinas Valley Railroad was purchased by the
Southern Pacific Railroad in December 1879. Southern Pacific soon began construction of a normal-
gauge spur connecting Monterey to the main Southern Pacific rail line in Castroville. This line ran along
the beach in Monterey, and railway workers were forced to dump lime along the edge of the tracks to
stabilize the slope against wind erosion. The spur, which, like its narrow-gauge predecessor, stopped
east of downtown Monterey, was completed in 1880.%

Commerce, Industry and Employment

The Pacific Improvement Company and Early Tourism

As soon as direct rail connection had been established between Monterey and San Francisco, powerful
business interests began aggressively promoting the Monterey Peninsula, with its scenic coastline,
mountains, forests, and historic adobes, as an ideal tourist and recreation destination. To capitalize on
these natural resources, Southern Pacific created a subsidiary — the Pacific Improvement Company —to
expand and develop the railroad’s already sizable landholdings. In late 1879, the Pacific Improvement
Company purchased the Rancho El Pescadero from David Jacks. In May of 1880, the Company also
purchased the entire Rancho Punto de los Pinos from Jacks, apart from the government property at the
lighthouse and 100 Pacific Grove lots that Jacks retained. Earlier that same year, on 125 acres of
parkland east of downtown that was also acquired from Jacks, the Pacific Improvement Company began
construction of the palatial Hotel Del Monte. The 100-room hotel was built in six months at a cost of $1
million. The hotel operated a shuttle service that brought guests directly to the hotel from the nearby
railroad station.*

The Hotel Del Monte was the keystone of an ambitious program of improvements undertaken by the
Pacific Improvement Company to transform the Monterey Peninsula into a tourist mecca. In 1880, with
the hotel still under construction, the Company began developing the “17 Mile Drive,” a scenic loop
drive along through Monterey, Pacific Grove and Pebble Beach. The majority of this drive remains under
private operation to this day. One of the first tourist stops after departing Monterey was the Chinese
fishing village at the east end of Pacific Grove, near New Monterey.”

22 Architectural Resources Group (1999), 6; Conway, 78-79; Delkin, 53; Johnston, 92.

% Fink, 127; Johnston, 103, 111; Walton, 140-141.

24Johnston, 111; Page & Turnbull, 58.

>> page & Turnbull, 59. See Figure 5-2 for a c. 1895 tourist map showing the 17 Mile Drive.
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Figure 5-2. c. 1898 map of Monterey and vicinity produced by Hotel Del Monte that shows the extent of the
Monterey Peninsula’s historic ranches. Note the small Chinatown just west of New Monterey, as well as the
Southern Pacific rail spur, which was extended to Lake Majella in 1889. The 17 Mile Drive is labeled with individual
mile-markers (courtesy Monterey Public Library, California History Room).

In 1883, the Pacific Improvement Company constructed a dam at the headwaters of the Carmel River,
along with a 23-mile pipeline to bring the river water to the Hotel Del Monte, as well as to the towns of
Monterey and Pacific Grove. The next year, the system was further expanded with construction of a 14
million gallon reservoir (labeled “Old Reservoir” in Figure 5-2) on the Monterey/Pacific Grove border.
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This reservoir, which is still extant though not currently in use, is located along the edge of the New
Monterey survey area, just west of David Avenue between Terry and Alice Streets.”®

Chinese Fishing Village at Mussel Point

Monterey’s fishing industry, which would come to dominate the city’s economy for much of the
twentieth century, was started in the 1850s by Chinese immigrants, who were the first to recognize the
commercial potential of the Bay’s diverse marine life. In 1851, the Chinese established a colony at
Whaler’s Cove at Point Lobos. By 1853, the Chinese operated an abalone fishing operation at Point
Alones (just west of the New Monterey survey area near the present-day Monterey Aquarium). The
Chinese fishing village would eventually extend along the sheltered stretch of coast from Point Alones to
Mussel Point (where the Hopkins Marine Station is located), becoming the largest Chinese fishing village
in the Monterey Bay Area. The Chinese leased the land from David Jacks, who owned the Punto de los
Pinos rancho lands. The fishing village was “not only the linchpin of the Chinese fishing industry in the
area but the cultural capital for all Chinese living in the region.” While Chinese fisherman sold some
fresh fish in Monterey, Santa Cruz and Salinas, the bulk of the harvests were dried and shipped to San
Francisco and China. When rail access from Monterey to Salinas opened in 1874, Chinese fisherman
began shipping fresh fish to San Francisco as well.?’

Figure 5-3. 1875 photo of Mussel Point Chinese fishing village, showing the small, gable-roofed, wood-frame
dwellings that characterized the settlement. (Attributed to Albert Dressler. Courtesy Monterey Public Library,
California History Room).

26 Page & Turnbull, 59-60. Well water was the primary source of water in New Monterey prior to the construction
of the Pacific Improvement Company pipeline.

7 Conway, 74-75; Hemp, 17-18; Lydon (1985), 152-153, 383-384; Thomas, 16. The quotation is from Lydon 1985),
152-153.
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The arrival of the railroad, however, was a mixed blessing for the Chinese. While the train significantly
expanded the number of accessible markets, it also ended the Chinese monopoly of the local fishing
industry as it brought the first wave of Genoese fishermen to the area soon after its 1874 opening. The
Chinese shifted to night-time squid fishing to avoid conflict with the Genoese. More broadly, the arrival
of the railroad spurred significant speculative interest in subdividing and developing the Mussel Point
area, increasing pressure on the Chinese to relocate to less desirable environs.?

Whaling

The shore along what was to become New Monterey was also an important site for the area’s
nineteenth century whaling industry. Monterey’s whaling industry was begun in 1854 by Captain John
Davenport’s whaling company. By 1861, four companies composed of Portuguese sailors hunted
Humpback and California Gray whales in Monterey Bay. After harpooning the whales, the sailors would
tow them to one of several beaches in the Monterey area, including McAbee Beach, which would later
become Cannery Row. Once ashore, the carcass was stripped and the blubber was heated in large pots
to extract natural oils that were used for machinery and in lamps. Baleen was harvested for corsets and
umbrella stays, while the bones were ground up for use as fertilizer or as part of building foundations.
By the late 1870s shore whaling had become less common as both the whale populations and the
demand for whale oil decreased.”

Fort Mervine

Commodore Sloat’s first order after taking possession of Monterey for the United States in 1846 was to
begin construction of a new fort on the hill above El Castillo to protect the harbor and town.
Construction of the fort, which was significantly larger than the old Mexican battery, was overseen by
Lieutenants E.O.C. Ord and William Tecumseh Sherman, along with Army engineer Henry W. Halleck.
During construction, this redoubt went by several names, including Fort Stockton, Fort Halleck and Fort
Savannah, before settlement was made on “Fort Mervine” in honor of Captain William Mervine, who
had led ashore the force the force that claimed California for the United States on July 7, 1846. Fort
Mervine was the first American military installation built on the West Coast. Following the end of the
Mexican-American War and widespread desertion with the discovery of gold in California, Fort Mervine
was empty of troops by the summer of 1852, though plentiful supplies remained. Following a brief
resuscitation as the Ord Barracks in the closing months of the Civil War, Fort Mervine was abandoned
completely in 1866. The federal government retained control of the land, which was known as the U.S.
Military Reservation. Military activity would not return to the area until 1902.%

5.2 ASSOCIATED PROPERTY TYPES

The New Monterey survey area does not appear to include any properties that date from this period.
During this period, New Monterey was a pastoral area inhabited by Milton Little’s family, but none of
their property remains. While preliminary surveying of the area began in 1877, the area was not
formally surveyed and subdivided until 1886. The earliest remaining property in the survey area appears
to be the Harry A. Greene house at 361 Lighthouse Avenue, which was completed in 1887.

28 Conway, 78.

2 Conway, 76; Fink, 125-6; Page & Turnbull, 38. Kerosene’s emergence as a cheap fuel alternative led to the
precipitous decline in demand for whale oil in the latter half of the nineteenth century.

0 Conway, 58-59; Horne, 34-40; Raugh, Jr., 7.
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6. INITIAL DEVELOPMENT OF NEW MONTEREY (1886-1901)

6.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Much of New Monterey’s essential character can be traced to the final years of the nineteenth century.
Three large subdivisions recorded at this time established the basic configuration of the district’s streets
and parcels and sparked initial residential development in the area. At the same time, Lighthouse
Avenue was established during this period as an important commercial and industrial corridor, both for
local residents and for nearby Pacific Grove and downtown Monterey.

Following a short-lived period of incorporation in the 1850s, the City of Monterey was not successfully
re-incorporated until June 1889, by which time town leaders felt that a stronger local government was
needed to prevent Monterey from becoming merely a residential adjunct of the Pacific Improvement
Company’s operations in the area. At the time of this incorporation, the city boundary included all but
the southwestern end of the New Monterey survey area. Specifically, the city boundary cut a diagonal
from near the corner of David Avenue at Alice Street to the south end of Taylor Street. On the other end
of town, the Pacific Improvement Company managed to keep the Hotel Del Monte property outside the
city limits, thereby avoiding local taxation for the area’s biggest revenue generator.*

Residential Settlement Patterns

The Little Surveys (1886) and Withers Tract (1890)

The two tracts of land that Walter Colton granted Milton Little in 1847 were formally subdivided in 1886
by Walter Colton Little, Milton Little’s son and Civil Engineer for Monterey and Pacific Grove. The two
tracts, which together comprised 71 blocks, extended from David Avenue to the U.S. Military
Reservation, from Oak Street down to the waterfront. Lots in both tracts measured 50 feet wide and 120
feet long. The northern tract (separated from the southern tract at Hoffman Avenue) was surveyed by
the Herrmann Brothers of San Jose in 1886. By December 1886, the Little family’s attorney, Delphin
Michael Delmas, had received title to the entire Hermann Survey and began selling lots. Delmas sold
many lots to John F. Sarber, while also deeding many parcels back to the Little family.*?

In 1889, John F. Sarber put up for sale 300 of the lots he had acquired from Delmas. Sarber’s office and
residence (no longer extant) was at the northwest corner of Hawthorne Street and Prescott Avenue in
New Monterey. The Sarber lots appear to have been spread throughout the north and south Little
subdivisions. While a contemporary newspaper announced that the Southern Pacific Railroad had
purchased 50 lots for a depot and other purposes, this appears not to have transpired. Buyers were
subject to a 4-lot maximum, preventing the development of any large-scale, speculative subdivision
developments. Additional lots were sold by David Rodrick & Company, a real estate and insurance office
located in the W.C. Little & Company Cheap Store, near the Little family home (no longer extant) at
Lighthouse and Dickman Avenues.*®

New Monterey expanded westward across Oak Street with Walter Colton Little’s subdivision of the
Withers Tract in 1890. Lots in the 62-block tract were 25 feet wide, half the lot width used for the 1886
Herrmann and Little surveys. (See Figure 8-1.)**

3 Conway, 82; Walton, 152-154.
*2 Howard 13, 157.

33 Howard, 11.

3 Howard, 227.
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Figure 6-1. 1886 Map of the Town of New Mont